IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM MARKHAM, ETC.,
et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

EVANGELICAL COVENANT
CHURCH OF AMERICA,
et al.,

Respondents. /

CASE NO. 68,396

FILED
CLERK OF THE
MAR 25 1978
CLERK, MARSHALL COUNTY
Clerk Deputy Clerk

On Discretionary Review to the Fourth
District Court of Appeal, Case No. 85-974

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONERS,
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE AND WILLIAM MARKHAM

JIM SMITH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

GAYLORD A. WOOD, JR.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
304 S.W. 12TH ST.
FT. LAUDERDALE, FL 33315
305/463-4040

Counsel for Petitioner
William Markham

J. TERRELL WILLIAMS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
TAX SECTION, CAPITOL BLDG.
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301
904/487-2142

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, RANDY MILLER, as Executive Director of the Florida Department of Revenue, will be referred to as the "Department." The Petitioner, WILLIAM MARKHAM, as Property Appraiser of Broward County, Florida, will be referred to as the "Property Appraiser." The Respondents, THE EVANGELICAL COVENANT CHURCH OF AMERICA and COVENANT VILLAGE OF FLORIDA, INC., will be referred to collectively as the "Taxpayers."

The term "trial court" will be used to refer to the Honorable J. Cail Lee of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. The term "District Court" will be used to refer to the Fourth District Court of Appeal of Florida.

The symbol "A" followed by a page number will be used to refer to the Appendix located at the back of this brief of the Department. The symbol "R" followed by a page number will be used to refer to the record on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Taxpayers filed their original Complaint in this action on July 16, 1981, challenging the Property Appraiser's decision not to grant them a full exemption from 1980 property taxes on a home for the aged owned and operated by the Taxpayers in the City of Plantation, Broward County, Florida. (R. 181-201). In their Complaint, the Taxpayers claimed that the Property Appraiser's decision to deny a full tax exemption on "charitable" grounds was invalid because the denial was allegedly based on facially unconstitutional criteria established by the Legislature in §196.1975, Fla. Stat. (1979).

The Taxpayers specifically claimed that their home for the aged would have received a full exemption from 1980 property taxes but for the Property Appraiser's application of two allegedly unconstitutional tests contained in paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection 196.1975(4). The two challenged tests were: (1) the "income test," by which the eligibility for tax exemption of a home for the aged is made partially dependent on the income of the occupants of the home; and (2) the "five-year residency test," applicable to occupants of a home for the aged seeking an exemption from ad valorem taxation. (R. 181-201).

Pursuant to stipulation of the parties (R-224-27), the original Complaint was amended to include 1981 property taxes

in the action (R. 228-29). This same amendment was subsequently stipulated to with respect to 1982, 1983, & 1984 taxes as the action progressed (R. 236-39, 267-70-277).

A final hearing in the trial court was held on February 13, 1985. Following the final hearing, which consisted primarily of argument of respective counsel, the trial court ruled (among other things) that (1) the "five-year residency test" was unconstitutional (R-128) and that (2) the "income test" set forth in §196.1975(4) was not facially unconstitutional (A. 1). A Final Judgment reflecting these rulings was entered on March 20, 1985. (A. 1-2).

It is from that portion of the Final Judgment (R 324-25) upholding the constitutionality of the "income test" set forth in §196.1975(4) that an appeal was taken by the Taxpayers to the District Court. Briefs were submitted on behalf of the respective parties and oral argument was subsequently presented to the District Court.

On February 5, 1986, the District Court filed an opinion holding that the "income test" set forth in §196.1975(4) was unconstitutional relying solely on the prior decision of this Court in Presbyterian Homes Synod v. Wood, 297 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1974) (A. 3). However, the District Court did certify as a question of great public importance the following question:

DOES THE COURT'S RULING IN PRESBYTERIAN HOMES V. WOOD, 297 So.2d 556 (FLA. 1974), CONTINUE TO HAVE VALIDITY AND, IF SO, DOES THE "INCOME TEST" IN SECTION 196.1975(4), FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), PASS CONSTITUTIONAL MUSTER? (A. 4)

The Department and the Property Appraiser subsequently filed a timely Petition for Review with this Court based on the question certified by the District Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The provisions of Art. VII, §3(a), Fla. Const., do not make it mandatory that any property be exempted from taxation due to its use for a "charitable purpose". The pertinent language of Art. VII, §3(a) is permissive in nature and expressly requires promulgation of general law by the Legislature to make it operative.

In addition, there is no constitutional definition of the critical term "charitable purpose." Thus, the Legislature should be accorded great freedom by the courts in prescribing conditions by general law for granting the special privilege of tax exemption to property based on its "charitable" use.

The decision of the District Court holding the "income test" provisions of §196.1975(4) facially unconstitutional is based solely on the prior opinion of this Court in Presbyterian Homes of Synod v. Wood, supra. However, the Presbyterian Homes decision was rendered prior to the enactment in 1976 of the current provisions of §196.1975 pursuant to the passage of Ch. 76-234, Laws of Fla. Section 13 of Ch. 76-234 also amended the related language in §196.012(6), Fla. Stat., defining "charitable purpose" by inserting the more restrictive term legally into the definition.

These 1976 legislative amendments evidence the clear intent of the Legislature to incorporate into the general law of Florida the principle that the amount of income available

to residents of homes for the aged is a primary criteria in determining the eligibility of this property for exemption from taxation. The "income test" set forth in §196.1975 complements the related restrictive definition of "charitable purpose" in §196.012(6), which incorporates the rationale of the potential necessity of the allocation of public funds for providing for the needs of the residents of such facilities in the event the services are discontinued by the private entity.

The holding of the Presbyterian Homes case improperly amends, by judicial fiat, the statutory definition and conditions pertaining to property tax exemption based on its "charitable" use. Thus, the decision in the Presbyterian Homes case constitutes an unwarranted judicial intrusion into the inherent power of the Legislature to classify property for taxation and for exemption from taxation. If it is necessary to uphold the constitutional validity of the "income test" provisions of §196.1975, this Court should recede from its decision in Presbyterian Homes of Synod v. Wood.

ARGUMENT

THE PROVISIONS OF §196.1975(4), (5) AND (6),
FLA. STAT., ESTABLISHING MAXIMUM INCOME
LIMITATIONS OF RESIDENTS OF OLD AGE HOMES AS
ADDITIONAL CRITERIA FOR GRANTING AD VALOREM
TAX EXEMPTIONS FOR CHARITABLE USE OF THE
PROPERTY ARE NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON THEIR FACE.

Before proceeding to the merits of this issue, the Department would direct the Court's attention to certain basic guidelines applicable to actions challenging the constitutionality of tax statutes:

(1) It is a fundamental rule of constitutional law that acts of the Legislature are presumed to be valid, and that the courts should indulge every presumption in favor of the constitutional validity of a challenged statute. Eastern Airlines, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue, 455 So.2d 311 (Fla. 1984); Peoples Bank v. State, Dept. Banking & Finance, 395 So.2d 521, 524 (Fla. 1981); Just Valuation & Taxation League, Inc. v. Simpson, 209 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1968); and Gaulden v. Kirk, 47 So.2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1950).

(2) The burden is upon the party challenging the constitutionality of a statute to make its invalidity clearly apparent by showing a "clear and demonstrated usurpation of power" on the part of the Legislature. See, Eastern Airlines, supra, at page 314.

(3) The burden on a person attacking a statute is an unusually heavy one in that this Court has held that a party challenging the constitutionality of a statute has the burden of proving its invalidity "beyond a reasonable doubt." Knight & Wall Co. v. Bryant, 178 So.2d 5,8 (Fla. 1965), cert. den., 383 U.S. 958.

(4) The challenged "income test" provisions pertain to additional criteria for exempting from ad valorem taxation homes for the aged on charitable purpose grounds. The appellate courts of this state have repeatedly held that statutes granting exemptions and special benefits to particular taxpayers that relieve them from the tax burdens generally placed on others should be construed strictly against the exemption or special benefit. State v. Thompson, 101 So.2d 381, 386 (Fla. 1958); Withers v. Metropolitan Dade County, 290 So.2d 573 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974); and Jar Corporation v. Culberston, 246 So.2d 144 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1971).

The decision of the District Court being reviewed in this proceeding reversed the trial court by holding that the "income test" set forth §196.1975(4), Fla. Stat. (1985), was unconstitutional on its face. (A. 3). The opinion of the District Court was expressly based solely on the prior decision of this Court in Presbyterian Homes of Synod of Florida v. Wood, 297 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1974) (A. 3). The Department respectfully submits that the holding in the Presbyterian Homes case should not be controlling on this proceeding because:

A. The provisions of §196.1975, Fla. Stat., were enacted by the Florida Legislature in the year 1976 in an obvious direct response to the 1974 decision in Presbyterian Homes. The provisions of §196.1975 evidence the clear intent of the Florida Legislature to establish by general law the principle that the amount of income of residents of old aged homes is a primary factor in determining whether a particular facility is being used for a "charitable purpose" as defined in §196.012(6), Fla. Stat. These provisions enacted in 1976 should be given effect by the courts of this state.

B. The holding of the Presbyterian Homes case improperly prohibits the Florida Legislature from utilizing an "income test" as a primary factor in determining the eligibility of an old aged home for exemption from ad valorem tax on charitable grounds. The Presbyterian Homes decision amends and broadens by judicial fiat the statutory definition of "charitable purpose," and such holding constitutes an unwarranted infringement by the judiciary on the power of the Legislature to prescribe by general law the conditions upon which tax exemption may be granted on "charitable grounds". Consequently, this Court should recede from the holding of the Presbyterian Homes case.

A. THE PROVISIONS OF §196.1975, FLA. STAT., WERE ENACTED IN THE YEAR 1976 BY THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE IN AN OBVIOUS DIRECT RESPONSE TO THE 1974 DECISION IN PRESBYTERIAN HOMES. THE PROVISIONS OF §196.1975 EVIDENCE THE CLEAR INTENT OF THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE TO ESTABLISH BY GENERAL LAW THE PRINCIPLE THAT THE INCOME OF RESIDENTS OF OLD AGED HOMES IS A PRIMARY FACTOR IN DETERMINING WHETHER A PARTICULAR FACILITY IS BEING USED FOR A "CHARITABLE PURPOSE" AS DEFINED IN §196.012(6), FLA. STAT. THESE STATUTORY PROVISIONS ENACTED IN 1976 SHOULD BE GIVEN EFFECT BY THE COURTS OF THIS STATE.

In the Presbyterian Homes case, supra, this Court did hold the "income test" set out in the former provisions of §196.197(2)(1973), to be in violation of the provisions of Art. VII, §3(a), Fla. Const. The former statutory provisions that were held unconstitutional in the Presbyterian Homes decision read as follows:

(2) After removing the assessed value exempted in subsection (1), homes for the aged shall be exempt to the extent that residency in the applicant home is actually restricted to:

(a) Persons having a gross income of not more than five thousand dollars per year who are sixty-two years of age or older;

(b) Couples, one of whom must be sixty-two years of age or older, having a combined gross income of not more than six thousand dollars per year;

(c) Persons who are totally and permanently disabled and have gross incomes of not more than five thousand dollars per year; and

(d) Couples, one or both of whom are totally and permanently disabled, having a combined gross income of not more than six thousand dollars per year.

The foregoing maximum income limitations applicable to residents of homes for the aged shall be adjusted to conform to any increase in maximum income restrictions established by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development for housing facilities for the lower income elderly financed under §202 or §236 of the National Housing Act, or of corresponding sections of any subsequently enacted National Housing Act.

In the year 1976, the Florida Legislature (in an obviously direct response to the Presbyterian Homes decision) enacted Ch. 76-234, Laws of Fla., creating the statutory provisions of §196.1975. The material provisions of §196.1975 challenged in this proceeding are substantially the same as originally enacted in 1976 and are set forth in the current provisions of §196.1975(4), (5) & (6), Fla. Stat. (1985), as follows:

(4)(a) After removing the assessed value exempted in subsection (3), homes for the aged shall be deemed to be used for charitable purposes only to the extent that residency in the applicant home is restricted to or occupied by persons who have resided in the applicant home and in good faith made this state their permanent residence as of January 1 of the year in which exemption is claimed and who also meet the requirements set forth in one of the following subparagraphs:

1. Persons who have gross incomes of not more than \$7,200 per year and who are 62 years of age or older.
2. Couples, one of whom must be 62 years of age or older, having a combined gross income of not more than \$8,000 per year, or the surviving spouse thereof, who lived with the deceased at the time of the deceased's death in a home for the aged.

3. Persons who are totally and permanently disabled and who have gross incomes of not more than \$7,200 per year.

4. Couples, one or both of whom are totally and permanently disabled, having a combined gross income of not more than \$8,000 per year, or the surviving spouse thereof, who lived with the deceased at the time of the deceased's death in a home for the aged.

However, the income limitations do not apply to totally and permanently disabled veterans, provided they meet the requirements of s. 196.081.

(b) The maximum income limitations permitted in this subsection shall be adjusted, effective January 1, 1977, and on each succeeding year, by the percentage change in the average cost-of-living index in the period January 1 through December 31 of the immediate prior year compared with the same period for the year prior to that. The index is the average of the monthly consumer price index figures for the stated 12-month period, relative to the United States as a whole, issued by the United States Department of Labor.

(5) Nonprofit housing projects which are financed by a mortgage loan made or insured by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development under ss. 202-208, 221(d)(3) or (4) or 236 of the National Housing Act, as amended, and which are subject to the income limitations established by the department shall be deemed to be used for charitable purposes.

(6) For the purposes of this section, gross income includes social security benefits payable to the person or couple or assigned to an organization designated specifically for the support or benefit of that person or couple. It is hereby declared to be the intent of the Legislature that this section implements the ad valorem tax exemption authorized in the third sentence of s.3(a), Art. VII, State Constitution, for purposes of granting such exemption to homes for the aged. The Legislature, while recognizing that problems facing the aged of the state

frequently require the expenditure of public funds or the extending of charity to the aged by nongovernmental entities, realizes that not all aged persons are in need of public or private assistance. Age has its drawbacks and hardships which require special care and attention and are aggravated by indigency. Homes for the aged frequently provide such care and attention, but a home for the aged does not necessarily serve a charitable purpose. Charity is a function performed to help those in need of assistance and is not necessarily based exclusively on age. It is for this reason that the Legislature hereby provides criteria to be used by the state's property appraisers and property appraisal adjustment boards in determining whether a particular home for the aged is being used for a charitable purpose and is thereby entitled to an exemption from ad valorem taxation. (e.s.)

A comparison of the language in current §196.1975(4), (5) & (6) with the former provisions of §196.197(2) reflect the following substantial changes:

(1) The maximum permissible gross income of residents has been increased from \$5,000 to \$7,200, individually, and from \$6,000 to \$8,000 per couple.

(2) The objectionable provisions of former §196.197(2)(d) providing for a "sliding scale" based upon future acts of Congress or future federal agency rulings of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development were deleted in the 1976 enactment. Under the current provisions of §196.1975(4)(b), an adjustment to the maximum income limitations is permitted based upon the average cost-of-living index for the preceding calendar year.

(3) A separate subsection (6) was added which sets forth the express intent of the Legislature "that this section implements the ad valorem tax exemption authorized in the third sentence of s. 3(a), Art. VII, State Constitution, for purposes of granting such exemption to homes for the aged."

These provisions of §196.1975(6) manifest the unmistakable intent of the Legislature that the income of residents of an home for the aged is germane to the issue of whether they are primarily indigent and may need public funds to provide the necessities of life in their elder years and would therefore, constitutes a charitable purpose under §196.012(6), F.S..

In addition, in the same 1976 legislative Act which created §196.1975 (Ch. 76-234), the Legislature also amended the definition of "charitable purpose" in §196.012(6) by inserting the restrictive term legally in the statutory language. See, §13, Ch. 76-234, Laws of Fla.

In 49 Fla. Jur.2d., Statutes, §165, at page 199, set forth the following statement of law:

It is not uncommon for the legislature to insert in a statute a provision containing findings and determinations relating to the matter involved. These may properly be examined by the courts to determine the legislative intent, and are presumed correct. Although the legislative determination of public purpose is not binding on the courts such a declaration is very persuasive.

See also, State v. Cotney, 104 So.2d 346 (Fla. 1958), where this Court upheld the validity of a special act by noting on page 349 of the opinion that "While the legislative determination of the public purposes is not binding on the courts, such a declaration is very persuasive. . . ."

The Taxpayers contended below that the newly enacted provisions of §196.1975 are no different in essence from the former provisions of §196.197(2) held to be unconstitutional by this Court in the Presbyterian Homes decision. However, such contention ignores basic conclusions of law pertaining to revisions and re-enactments of statutory law promulgated by the Legislature to replace former provisions held unconstitutional by the courts.

In the leading case of Dickinson v. Davis, 224 So.2d 262 (Fla. 1969), this Court upheld a statute providing for separate taxation of subsurface rights under certain statutory conditions, even though former provisions of a successor statute were held to be unconstitutional by this Court in a prior decision. On page 264 of the Dickinson opinion, this Court stated in pertinent part as follows:

The Legislature is presumed to know existing law when a statute is enacted Collins Investment Company v. Metropolitan Dade County (Fla. 1964) 164 So.2d 806, and, also, in re-enacting a statute the Legislature is presumed to be aware of constructions placed upon it by the Court. Delaney v. State (Fla. 1966), 190 So.2d 578. It necessarily follows that the Legislature in considering and passing a statute to replace one previously held unconstitutional by the Court intended to correct the constitutional defect causing the invalidation of the previous statute. It is never presumed that the Legislature intended to enact purposeless or useless legislation. Sharer v. Hotel Corporation of America (Fla. 1962) 144 So.2d 813. (e.s.)

The decision of the District Court below effectively negates the new provisions added by the Legislature by the creation of §196.1975 in the year 1976. The Department submits that the decision of the District Court (giving no effect to the 1976 statutory amendments made by the Legislature in enacting the critical provisions of §196.1975) violates an established rule of statutory construction that "it should never be presumed that the Legislature intended to enact meaningless and useless legislation, and it must be assumed that the provisions enacted by the Legislature are intended to have some useful purpose." See, Smith v. Piezo Technology & Professional Administrators, 427 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1983); and Dickinson v. Davis, supra.

In the treatise on statutory construction in 49 Fla. Jur.2d, Statutes, §134, page 176, the following general rule of statutory construction is set forth:

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