IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORADA

WILLIAM MARKHAM, ETC., et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

EVANGELICAL COVENANT CHURCH OF AMERICA, et al.,

Respondents.

CASE NO. 68,396

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS, EVANGELICAL COVENANT CHURCH OF AMERICA AND COVENANT VILLAGE OF FLORIDA, INC.

GERALD L. KNIGHT
PETER J. FORMAN
GUSTAFSON, STEPHENS, FERRIS,
FORMAN & HALL, P.A.
540 Northeast Fourth Street
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
Telephone (305) 763-9330
Counsel for Respondents

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The "income test" established by Paragraphs (a) and (b) of Subsection 196.1975(4), Florida Statutes (1984 Supp.), for determining the tax exempt statuts of homes for the aged, is too narrow to conform to the "used predominantly" standard for granting tax exemptions set out in Section 3, Article VII, Florida Constitution. The definition of "charitable purpose" contained in Section 196.012(b), Florida Statutes, is inapplicable to this action.

In addition, the "income test" violates the equal protection clauses of the Federal and Florida Constitutions in that it unreasonably discriminates between homes for the aged and other charitable and religious uses, and between homes for the aged themselves.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

"INCOME TEST" CONTAINED THE PARAGRAPHS (a) AND (b) OF SUB-SECTION 196.1975(4), FLORIDA STAT-(1985), FAILS TO CONFORM CONSTITUTIONAL STANDARD THE FOR GRANTING TAX EXEMPTIONS SET OUT IN SECTION 3, ARTICLE VII, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

A. Introduction:

Before proceeding to the merits of this Issue, Covenant would direct the Court's attention to several fundamental points concerning this action:

- (1) The only issue raised on appeal to the District Court was the validity of the "income test" contained in Paragraphs (a) and (b) of Subsection 196.1975(4), Florida Statutes (1985). There was no other issue raised on appeal by either Covenant or the Taxing Authorities. In fact, although the Property Appraiser filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal, he did not file a brief in the District Court or otherwise participate in that appeal.
- (2) Consistent with the foregoing point, there was no issue raised in the District Court concerning the "charitable" status of Covenant's home for the aged. The Circuit Court, in granting Covenant's Motion in Limine, had ruled that the Property

Appraiser's determination that Covenant's home for the aged was a charitable use of property was a final determination, and that the Property Appraiser could not, through his affirmative defenses in this action, attempt to reverse that determination due to an alleged mistake in judgment.

In their argument in the Circuit Court below, Taxing Authorities' essential position was that changes made by the 1976 Florida Legislature to Section 196.1975, Florida Statutes, cured the constitutional defects identified by this Court in its decision in Presbyterian Homes of the Synod of Florida v. 297 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1974). The primary change effected in the statute by the 1976 Florida Legislature, according to Taxing Authorities, was the inclusion of a declaration of legislative intent. This was also the Taxing Authorities' essential position in the District Court. Now, for the first time in this Court, the Taxing Authorities are placing great reliance on amendment of the definition of "charitable purpose" contained in Subsection 196.012(6), Florida Statutes (1985), also enacted the 1976 Florida Legislature. Apparently, having come to realize that the changes to Section 196.1975 were unavailing to cure the constitutional defect recognized by this Court in Presbyterian Homes and asserted by Covenant below, the Taxing Authorities have shifted the focus of their argument to a definitional change

which has absolutely no application to this action. Again, no issue was raised by the Taxing Authorities in the District Court concerning the charitable status of Covenant's home for the aged, nor did the Taxing Authorities seek review of the Circuit Court's determination that the Property Appraiser could not resurrect and reverse his determination that Covenant's home for the aged was a charitable use of property.

B. Application of Presbyterian Homes to Subsection 196.1975(4):

Within the perspective established by the foregoing points, Covenant next directs the Court's attention to the specific language of Paragraphs (a) and (b) of Subsection 196.1975(4), Florida Statutes (1985), which provide as follows:

- (4)(a) After removing the value exempted in Subsection (3), homes for the aged shall be deemed to be used for charitable purposes only to the extent that residency in the applicant home is restricted to or occupied by persons who have resided in the applicant home and in good faith state their permanent residence as of January 1 of the year in which exemption is claimed and who also meet the requirements set forth in one of the following subparagraphs:
- 1. Persons who have gross incomes of not more than \$7,200 per year and who are 62 years of age or older.
- 2. Couples, one of whom must be 62 years of age or older, having a combined gross income of not more than \$8,000 per year, or the surviving spouse thereof, who lived with the deceased at the time of the deceased's death in a home for the aged.

- 3. Persons who are totally and permanently disabled and who have gross incomes of not more than \$7,200 per year.
- 4. Couples, one or both of whom are totally and permanently disabled, having a combined gross income of not more than \$8,000 per year, or the surviving spouse thereof, who lived with the deceased at the time of the deceased's death in a home for the aged.

However, the income limitations do not apply to totally and permanently disabled veterans, provided they meet the requirements of s.196.081.

(b) The maximum income limitations permitted in this Subsection shall be adjusted, effective January 1, 1977, and on each succeeding year, by the percentage change in the average cost-of-living index in the period January 1 through December 31 of the immediate prior year compared with the same period for the year prior to that. The index is the average of the monthly consumer price index figures for the stated 12-month period, relative to the United States as a whole, issued by the United States Department of Labor.

These provisions were enacted in essentially their present form by Chapter 76-234, Laws of Florida, following the decision of this Court in <u>Presbyterian Homes</u>. That decision invalidated Subsection 196.197(2), Florida Statutes (1973), which contained provisions virtually identical to those contained in Paragraphs (a) and (b) guoted above. 1/

Footnote Continued

^{1/} Subsection 196.197(b), Florida Statutes (1973), provided as
follows:

The only significant change made by the Legislature in Paragraphs (a) and (b) since the inception of this action was to eliminate the "five-year residency test" following this Court's decision in Osterndorf v. Turner, 426 So.2d 539 (Fla. 1982). See Chapter 83-271, Laws of Florida.

Continued

- (2) After removing the assessed value exempted in Subsection (1), homes for the aged shall be exempt to the extent that residency in the applicant home is actually restricted to:
- (a) Persons having a gross income of not more than five thousand dollars per year who are sixty-two years of age or older;
- (b) Couples, one of whom must be sixty-two years of age or older, having a combined gross income of not more than six thousand dollars per year;
- (c) Persons who are totally and permanently disabled and have gross incomes of not more than five thousand dollars per year; and
- (d) Couples, one or both of whom are totally and permanently disabled, having a combined gross income of not more than six thousand dollars per year.

The foregoing maximum income limitations applicable to residents of homes for the aged shall be adjusted to conform to any increase in maximum income restrictions established by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development for housing facilities for the lower income elderly financed under §202 or §236 of the National Housing Act, or of corresponding sections of any subsequently enacted National Housing Act.

In its decision in <u>Presbyterian Homes</u>, this Court held that the criteria contained in Subsection 196.197(2), Florida Statutes (1973), i.e., the "income test", failed to conform to that portion of Section 3, Article VII, Florida Constitution, which states as follows:

Such portions of property as are <u>used</u> <u>predominantly</u> for educational, literary, scientific, religious or charitable purposes may be exempted by general law from taxation. (Emphasis supplied.)

According to the Court,

The "income test" prescribed in the narrow in scope to conform to the constitutional true intent of the limita-General laws providing tax exemptions must contain criteria which correspond to the constitutional limitation that portions of property predominantly used for religious charitable purposes may be exempted from The "income test" has reference more the personal economics of a resident or residents of an apartment or room in a home for the aged or disabled than to the overall purpose or use of a home as a religious or charitable institution. It is restrictive in that it is applied pecuniarily and selectively to particular individuals and their apartments or rooms rather than to the generobjects of a home provided by church or charitably oriented organizations for eleemosynary programs.

Inasmuch as an "income test" is the primary determinant of the eligibility for tax exemption of a home, other factors traditionally used in determining the status of such a home are minimized contrary to the intent of the constitutional limitation.

297 So. 2d at 558. The Court then referred to its previous decisions in Orange County v. Orlando Osteopathic Hospital, 66 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 1953); Miami Battlecreek v. Lummus, 140 Fla. 718, 192 So. 211 (1939); Simpson, Tax Collector v. Jones Business College, 118 So. 2d 779 (Fla. 1960); Jasper v. Mease Manor, Inc., 208 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 1968); and Johnson v. Presbyterian Homes of Synod of Florida, Inc., 239 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1970), as setting out the traditional criteria utilized in determining the tax exemption eligibility of charitable institutions.

The Court also traced the history of Section 3, Article VII, Florida Constitution, which, as part of the 1968 revision, was amended to change the standard relating to tax exemptions for property used for religious and charitable purposes. The 1885 Florida Constitution had required that such property be "used exclusively" for religious or charitable purposes. The 1968 Florida Constitution requires only that such property be "used predominantly" for religious or charitable purposes.

The Court then discussed its earlier decision in <u>Jasper v.</u>

<u>Mease Manor, Inc., supra, in which it had upheld a precursor of Section 196.197(2), Florida Statutes (1973), as meeting the 1885, "used exclusively" standard. In that case the taxing entities involved had argued that the statute in question did not insure a "charitable" purpose in that it failed to require income</u>

generated by a home for the aged to be used for some charitable purpose other than the operation of the home. Rejecting this argument, the Court held that a home for the aged was "used exclusively" for a charitable purpose if it operated under the conditions of the statute "for persons who are chronologically aged without regard to dependence or independence otherwise". 208 So.2d at 825. Elaborating on this point, the Court stated that "[r]eview of similar legislation in other states has prompted recognition of the fact that care of the aged, poor and otherwise, has become a problem of widespread governmental concern", and, in a footnote, quoted from a report of the White House Conference on International Cooperation as follows:

Twentieth-century advances in medicine and technology have sharply increased the numbers of people who live into old age, not only in the United States, but in most of the world. The increase in the proportion of older people coincides with a steadily diminishing role for them in modern society. Technical development and urbanization afford fewer opportunities for the older segment of society. Modern mobility and massmigration also contribute to the isolation, poverty and lack of place of a good number of old people.

These dual phenomena of modern times -- the gift of longer life and the loss of a role in society for the older people -- give rise to one of the most universal of social problems.

208 So.2d at 826. Thus, in its decision in Jasper this Court

recognized that a home for the aged can serve a charitable purpose, even under the severe "used exclusively" standard of the 1885 Florida Constitution, by meeting the peculiar social needs associated with old age, notwithstanding the dependence or independence otherwise of the persons receiving such service.

This position was reaffirmed by this Court in its Presbyterian Homes decision under the more liberal "used predominantly" standard of the 1968 Florida Constitution. In that case, as indicated above, this Court essentially held that it was inconsistent with the constitutional concept of granting tax exemptions for charitable purposes to reduce or eliminate the tax exemption of an otherwise charitable home for the aged (i.e., a non-profit home for the aged serving the peculiar social needs associated with old age) merely because of the financial status of the persons receiving such service.

In reenacting the "income test" in 1976, the Florida Legislature did nothing to cure the constitutional infirmity in the
"income test" recognized by this Court in <u>Presbyterian Homes</u> and
raised by Covenant below. The only changes made by the 1976 law
which any way relate to the "income test" were the inclusion of a
declaration of legislative intent; the creation of a new standard
for adjusting income limitations; and an increase in the minimum
income limits prescribed in the statute.

With respect to the declaration of legislative intent set out in Subsection 196.1975(6), Florida Statutes (1985), ^{2/} it should go without saying that a constitutional defect in a statute cannot be remedied merely by including a legislative statement as to why the constitutionally defective statute was enacted. In fact, the only legitimate purpose which appears to be served by such a declaration of legislative intent, is to aid the courts in resolving some possible statutory ambiguity. See Southwest Florida Production Credit Ass'n v. Schirow, 388 So.2d 338 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980).

^{2/} Section 196.1975(6), Florida Statutes (1985), provides in part as follows:

It is hereby declared to be the intent of the Legislature that this section implements the ad valorem tax exemption authorized in the third sentence of s.3(a), Art. VII, State Constitution, for purposes of granting such exemption to homes for the aged. The Legislature, while recognizing that problems facing the aged of the state frequently require the expenditure of public the extending of charity to the aged by funds or nongovernmental entities, realizes that not all persons are in need of public or private assistance. Age has its drawbacks and hardships which require special and attention and are aggravated care indigency. Homes for the aged frequently provide such and attention, but a home for the aged does not necessarily serve a charitable purpose. Charity is a function performed to help those in need of assistance and is not necessarily based exclusively on age. this reason that the Legislature hereby provides criteria to be used by the state's property appraisers and property appraisal adjustment boards in determining whether a particular home for the aged is being used for a charitable purpose and is thereby entitled to an exemption from ad valorem taxation.

In the instant action no claim has been made by the Taxing Authorities that the "income test" is ambiguous or that it is susceptible of more than one interpretation. Thus, the declaration of legislative intent contained in Subsection 196.1975(6) is, at best, mere legislative surplusage. At worst, it evidences an attempt on the part of the Florida Legislature to "overrule" this Court's decision in Presbyterian Homes. In this regard, it is axiomatic that the Florida Legislature cannot legally alter a prior decision of this Court interpreting the Florida Constitution. See Sarmiento v. State, 371 So.2d 1047, 1051 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), aff"d, 397 So.2d 643 (Fla. 1981).

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